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1 Purpose  

This resource has been developed to support with external commissioning of an 

evaluation partner to evaluate and monitor projects in the NHS Innovation Open Call 

for Cancer. 

This guide provides: 

• An introduction to the procurement process 

• Hints and tips to support throughout the process 

• Example tender specification 
 

2 Insights to procuring a local evaluation  

This note has been prepared by NHS England and NHS Improvement. It aims to 

provide an introduction to some of the questions companies may have as they procure 

evaluation partners.  

 

1.1 What is procurement?   

Procurement is defined as ‘the process of acquiring goods, works and services.’ Under 

this definition procurement covers both acquisition from third parties and from in-house 

providers, with the process spanning the whole cycle from identification of needs, 

implementing and managing the contract through to the end of a services contract or 

the end of the useful life of an asset. Below is the standard approach, used throughout 

the public sector. This isn’t followed rigorously for each and every requirement, but it 

is used as a guide to help ensure key steps within the process are either considered 

or followed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



page 3 
 

Every organisation has a way of undertaking this process. The first thing you need to 

do before beginning any procurement is to find out who is responsible for procurement 

in your organisation. You also need to know what sign offs or approvals are required, 

what templates are used and what your organisations approach to sourcing and 

evaluating is. In the text below, we have prepared guidance designed to supplement 

your existing process and provide additional support as required. 

 

1.2 Approaches to the Market 

Different organisations have different requirements in terms of how they ensure 

competition when buying goods and services. Please ensure you comply with these 

requirements. Different organisations have different requirements in terms of how they 

ensure competition when buying goods and services. Please ensure you comply with 

these requirements. 

If you have a supplier that you are already engaged with, perhaps have an existing 

relationship with and wish to continue work with them, please check your 

organisation’s approvals to determine how best to proceed. 

 

1.3 What do I need to remember before I send out a tender? 

The below questions provide a useful checklist before you begin your tendering 

approach. 

1. What is required? 
This is the business need. There should be clear description of what is required, 

which considers the strategy or vision it supports. 

 

2. Is what we want clearly detailed? 
Is there a specification for what we want? Does it include how we will use it, what 

it will interlink with, impact on, and work with? Is this specification something that 

suppliers will easily relate to? 

 

3. What are the budget and the expected cost? 
You will have a budget, but it is always sensible to undertake some market 

research, checking that the budgeted cost is still reflective of what it costs now, 

if there are any on costs, or indeed any hidden costs, such as expenses. 

 

4. How do we want this delivered? 

This is both the sourcing strategy, that is, are we looking for one supplier, more 

than one or even a partnership. It is also about considering how we want the 

provider to engage with us. Do we want them to be hands on, with an account 

manager, provide regular contact, or limited contact? How is progress to be 

monitored and reported? 

 
You may want to procure more than one supplier where the requirements for 

evaluation are complex and multidimensional, and not feasibly delivered by a 
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single provider. It is important to note that procuring, and managing, more than 

one provider may be more resource intensive than for a single provider. You 

may, therefore, wish to consider establishing a consortium with a lead provider, 

who will be responsible for managing other providers. 

 
5. What are the risks with this requirement? 

Consider what could go wrong. You should identify what the impact and 

consequence may be as well as what you can do to manage or mitigate the risk. 

This may be things linked to the timing, the budget or potential suppliers in the 

market. 

 
6. Who else needs to be involved? How should they be communicated with? 

Everything we do within the business has an impact or interaction with some 

other part of the business. All of these people or individuals are the stakeholders. 

Some stakeholders will need to be involved in the process, some kept up to date 

with progress and some provided high level updates at key stages. Stakeholders 

should be identified early as well as the level of detail and information required 

and the communication plan to keep them all informed and involved. To manage 

these interactions, we also need a lead for each requirement. This is the person 

who owns the project and will be ultimately responsible for delivery. 

 
7. When does this have to be delivered by? 

Every requirement will have a timeframe by which it needs to be delivered. Early 

planning is important, although sometimes this is not possible. Be clear about 

what timeframe you have, the key steps which need to be followed and how long 

this will take. Allow yourself some extra time in case key steps take longer than 

expected. Don’t forget about approvals, it is important that these are included to 

ensure compliance. 

 

8. Who needs to approve this? 
Before progressing, approvals for either authorisation to spend, or authorisation 

to award should be identified and included within the project timeframe. Approval 

requirements will be specific to your organisation. 

 

1.4 Hints and tips throughout the process 

Producing the Specification 

Don’t over specify, allow enough opportunity for a supplier to respond and suggest 

innovation, different comparative products or different ways of producing the end 

result. This is a great opportunity to evaluate alternatives. 
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Creating the Document 

Your organisation may have standard templates required to be used when 

tendering. Review these, identify what standard terms and conditions and key 

information is important to communicate to the Suppliers. Also include key 

information about the project and the key stakeholders involved in the project. Try 

and provide as much detail as possible about the larger context of the project. 

 

Evaluating Bids 

All tenders will require key criteria. This is the basis on which bids are evaluated. 

There should be a mix of different criteria specified such as expertise, experience, 

capability, financial stability, reliability and past performance. You may also wish to 

include the requirement to interview suppliers. 

 

Communication during the Tendering Process 

Once the procurement process has started, you should not talk to any suppliers 

informally. This can jeopardise the tendering or request for information process. 

There are ways to engage with suppliers and the tender documents should include 

the communication process. 

 

Submission of Bids 

To ensure probity of the bids, this should be either to a generic inbox, or via a portal. 

The time frame for submission should be made clear, for example by [time] on [day] 

[month] [year]. 

 

Tender Return 

All bids should be firstly checked to ensure they contain all information required and 

are compliant. Quality elements should be distributed to the evaluation panel and 

someone should separately evaluate pricing. 

 

Evaluation Panel 

It is important to undertake the quality review with a panel made up of at least three 

people, as a shared view; different opinions can provide varied insights to the 

responses. 

 

A different person should review the pricing information, to ensure it relates to what 

is required and is sustainable. Any questions around any part of the bid should be 

raised with the supplier before a decision is made. 

 

The evaluation process will reflect the detail provided in the documentation and will 

be based on the agreed scoring mechanism contained within the document. 
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Review of evaluation 

When the quality evaluation is combined with the pricing evaluation, you should sit 

down as a team and discuss the outcome of the evaluation process, as well as the 

pros and cons of each submission reviewed. This is important as it can be used as 

feedback to those bidding should they ask. It should be recorded, to help justify the 

decision. 

 

Award Approval 

Check your internal governance requirements, if approval is required before a 

contract can be awarded, ensure you complete this. 

 

Notification 

Accompanying notification to the successful supplier should be the request that the 

supplier complete the new supplier form so as to be added to the finance system 

and confirmation of acceptance of terms of conditions. They should also be asked 

to sign a contract. Standard terms and conditions should be available within your 

organisation. 

 

Suppliers who were not successful should also be notified, with a supporting 

statement as to why they may not have been successful and what part of their bid 

may have been improved, and sometimes the offer of further feedback. 

 

Lessons Learnt 

We don’t expect that every project, or contract, or supplier will be perfect, but the 

only way we can look to improve what we do and make sure we don’t make the 

same mistakes or have the same issues in the future is to review objectively what 

we did. 
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Note: 

This document provides information that may be required as part of a tender 

specification. Companies and organisations are encouraged to work with local 

procurement staff to ensure the specification meets local governance arrangements. 

Companies and organisations are also encouraged to tailor this specification to your 

own requirements. 

3 Information to support development of a tender 
specification for an evaluation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background: The NHS Cancer Programme 

NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I) leads the NHS in England. It sets the 

priorities and direction of the NHS and encourages and informs the national debate to 

improve health and care.  

NHSE/I sets the strategic vision for the future of the NHS in the Long Term Plan (LTP). 

The LTP has a strong focus on prevention, identifying and delivering improvements in 

healthcare, redesigning the NHS so it continues to meet the needs of patients, 

ensuring the NHS is financially sustainable, and engaging the public in this whole 

process.  

 

The LTP sets out two bold ambitions for improving cancer outcomes: 

1. By 2028, 55,000 more people will survive cancer for five years or more each 

year; and 

2. By 2028, 75% of people will be diagnosed at an early stage (stage 1 or 2).  

 

The NHS Cancer Programme is focused on delivering the LTP ambitions for cancer, 

with a specific focus on improving earlier diagnosis and survival. To support the LTP 

ambitions for cancer, the NHS Cancer Programme held a funding competition for 

innovations in late-stage development to support early detection and diagnosis of 

cancer, and diagnostic efficiency of cancer services.  

 

Evaluation of activity 

Evaluation of interventions is a core part of the NHS Cancer Programme 

Innovation Open Call. NHS England and NHS Improvement’s expectations for, 

and approach to, evaluation reflects the complexity and national scale of the 

programme. Taking this approach will allow the variety of activity and local 

nuances implicit in a national programme of this type to be comprehensively 

captured. These evaluations will produce findings likely to be of relevance 
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locally, as well as evidence that can answer key national questions.  

 

Introduction to the [insert name of innovation] programme 

Note: Companies and organisations are encouraged to provide bidders with a 

summary of their programme of work with links to any key documents or further 

useful information in annexes (e.g. logic models, project plans). The aim of this 

section is to provide bidders with a bit more context about the scale and scope of 

the programme and the types of interventions/activities that it includes and that 

will be covered by the evaluation. 

 

Evaluation aims & questions 

The overall aim of this programme is to undertake a detailed process, economic 

and impact evaluation of the [insert innovation] to understand how funded 

interventions are implemented, what effects they have, for whom, how, and why. 

The evaluation should be both formative and summative in its design. As such, it 

should be used to shape the delivery of the programme as it is delivered, as well 

as provide summative findings on the impact the programme is having. 

 

A number of overarching evaluation questions should be considered: 

 
• What is the context (e.g. history, culture, relationships, health inequalities, 

local and national policies, national legislation) in the Cancer Alliance/Trust 
where funded activity is underway? 

• What key changes are being made and who is being affected by them? How 
have these changes been implemented? What barriers and enablers have 
been encountered during implementation? 

• What is the change in resource use and cost for the specific interventions 
that encompass the funded programme locally?  

• What impact is transformation funded activity having on patient outcomes 
and experience, the health of the local population and the way in which 
resources are used in the local health system? This should be compared 
against a counterfactual, where possible. 

• Which components of the funded activity are really making a difference? 
• What are the ‘active ingredients’ for interventions? Which aspects, if 

replicated elsewhere, can be expected to give similar results and what 
contextual factors are prerequisites for success? 

• What are the unintended costs and consequences (positive or negative) 
associated with tested interventions on the local health economy and 
beyond? 

 
Note: Companies and organisations are encouraged to add their own tailored 

evaluation questions to this list. 

As well as providing value to the [insert innovation company], the evaluation 

should generate an evidence base that will enable the NHS Cancer Programme 
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to answer key policy questions about the spread and replicability of tested 

interventions. 

 

Methodology 

The method should build on any evaluation work that [insert name innovation 

company] has already undertaken.  

 

This preparatory work forms a robust base upon which an evaluation 

methodology can be built. We do not wish to be overly-prescriptive about the 

methods to be used. We are keen to hear ideas from potential providers and 

encourage innovative approaches to be considered. However, we would expect 

the following stages and methodological approaches to be included: 

 

• A theory-driven approach, using the logic models. 

• A mixed methods approach which includes a range of quantitative 

and qualitative methodologies. Bidders may wish to consider: 

I. Reviewing existing documentation and the wider literature as 

appropriate (noting the need to avoid replicating work 

already being undertaken centrally) 

II. Analysis of existing datasets 

III. Surveys of patients, carers, staff and citizens 

IV. Interviews / focus groups with patients, carers, staff and 

wider stakeholders 

V. Observational methods. 

 

Outputs/reporting 

The successful evaluator will be expected to provide regular progress reports to 

[insert innovation company], NHS England and NHS Improvement, and LGC 

PMO, within specified governance structures. As a result, bidders should prepare 

a rolling programme of data gathering and analysis so as to provide formative 

findings within each of these reports. 

 
Project management 

[Insert name of innovation company] will identify a project lead to act as the 

day-to-day contact for the work. The project lead from the successful bidder is 

expected to have regular contact with the [insert name of innovation company] 

and to work collaboratively with them (and other stakeholders) to develop and 

deliver the evaluation. 

 

To facilitate the formative function of the evaluation, the evaluator should attend 

the relevant governance arrangements in place to oversee evaluation activities, 
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which typically meets [enter frequency here]. 

 

Timetable 

Companies and organisations are encouraged to provide bidders with a proposed 

timetable for delivery of the evaluation. See example table to be adapted below. 

DATE MILESTONES 

[month, year] • Contract awarded 

[month, year] • Agree evaluation approach 

[month, year] • Initial phase of fieldwork begins 

[month, year] • Interim progress report 

….. • ….. 

….. •  

[month, year] • Final annual report delivered 

 

 

Budget 

There is a budget of £[enter total here] per annum for this evaluation [Note: 

including the budget in the tender specification is not mandatory]. We would like 

to emphasise that value for money should be a key part of the overall 

assessment.  

Bidders should provide clear costings for each aspect of the project including 

a breakdown of activities to be delivered and any assumptions underpinning 

the costs. [Note: ensure that VAT is accounted for in any budget]. 

 

Tender evaluation criteria 

Bidders should cover the following information as part of their bid: 

 
• How the work will be conducted and how the listed evaluation questions will be 

addressed 

• A timetable of the stages of work 

• Details of the project team that will be involved in working on the project, 

outlining their number of days on the project, skills, experience, and nature 

of their involvement in the evaluation 

• What project management techniques and reporting will be used 

• Details of the quality assurance procedures in place 

• Details of any ethical issues, data protection relevant to the proposal and how 
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these will be addressed 

• A risk register identifying risks associated with the completion of the evaluation 
and how Bidders plan to mitigate them 

• Clear separate costings for each aspect of the project. 
 
Bidders’ responses will be assessed against the following criteria: 

 
• Expertise and experience in the following areas: 

i. Evaluating healthcare service transformation/innovation initiatives 

ii. Undertaking mixed methods evaluations 

iii. Carrying out impact evaluations 

iv. Delivering high quality reports suitable for local and national audiences. 

• Suitability and practicality of the proposed methods and delivery 

approach to address the aims of the evaluation 

• Value for money. 
 
Note: please tailor these criteria to your own needs. Ensuring a clear set of 

criteria are available for assessment is crucial.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


